Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 20 (2009) 1048-1054

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/semcdb



Review

Proteasomal degradation in plant-pathogen interactions

Vitaly Citovsky^{a,1}, Adi Zaltsman^{a,1}, Stanislav V. Kozlovsky^a, Yedidya Gafni^b, Alexander Krichevsky^{a,*}

^a Department of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, State University of New York, Stony Brook, NY 11794-5215, USA ^b Department of Genetics, Agricultural Research Organization, P.O. Box 6, Bet Dagan 50250, Israel

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 6 June 2009

Keywords: 26S proteasome Ubiquitination Plant-pathogen interaction Plant immunity

ABSTRACT

The ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway is a basic biological mechanism involved in the regulation of a multitude of cellular processes. Increasing evidence indicates that plants utilize the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway in their immune response to pathogen invasion, emphasizing the role of this pathway during plant–pathogen interactions. The specific functions of proteasomal degradation in plant–pathogen interactions are diverse, and do not always benefit the host plant. Although in some cases, proteasomal degradation serves as an effective barrier to help plants ward off pathogens, in others, it is used by the pathogen to enhance the infection process. This review discusses the different roles of the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway during interactions of plants with pathogenic viruses, bacteria, and fungi.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 1048
2.	Overview of the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway	. 1049
3.	Proteasomal degradation and plant viral infection	. 1049
	3.1. Proteasomal degradation and R-protein-mediated defense	. 1049
	3.2. Proteasomal degradation of viral movement proteins	. 1049
	3.3. Involvement of proteasomal degradation in the activity of viral RNA-silencing suppressors	. 1051
4.	Proteasomal degradation in fungal and bacterial infection	
	4.1. Proteasomal degradation in antifungal defense	. 1051
	4.2. Proteasomal uncoating of Agrobacterium T-DNA	. 1051
	4.3. 26S proteasome in R-protein-mediated response to Pseudomonas syringae	. 1052
5.	Concluding remarks	. 1052
	Acknowledgements	. 1052
	References	. 1052

1. Introduction

Plants are constantly exposed to pathogenic microorganisms, such as bacteria, viruses, and fungi. Like animals, they have evolved immune responses to combat infection. However, a fundamental difference between plant and animal immunity is the lack of a somatic adaptive response system and mobile responder cells in the former: instead, the plant makes use of the innate immune mechanisms of individual cells and utilizes systemic signals originating from the site of infection (reviewed in [1]). When a pathogen invades plant tissue, its components, proteins or nucleic acids, are recognized by various disease–response mechanisms, such as antiviral immunity based on small RNAs (reviewed in [2]) or a network of plant disease resistance (R) proteins (reviewed in [1,3]).

Increasing evidence implicates the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway (reviewed in [4])—a basic biological mechanism involved in the regulation of many of cellular processes, including animal immunity [5]—in the R-protein-mediated plant immune response [6–8]. However, the ubiquitin/26S proteasome defense mechanism does not always function for the benefit of the plant that wields it.

Abbreviations: PCD, programmed cell death; TMV, *Tobacco mosaic virus*; VIGS, virus-induced gene silencing; SCF complex, Skp1/Cullin/F-box protein complex; R protein, resistance protein; RISC, RNA-induced silencing complex.

Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 631 632 1015; fax: +1 631 632 8575.

E-mail address: akrichevsky@notes.cc.sunysb.edu (A. Krichevsky).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

^{1084-9521/\$ –} see front matter 0 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2009.05.012

Some pathogens have evolved the ability to subvert the host's proteasomal degradation pathway to enhance their infection. Here, we discuss different aspects of the involvement of the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway in interactions of plants with pathogenic viruses, bacteria, and fungi.

2. Overview of the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway

Cellular processes require the removal of proteins that are misfolded or foreign, or whose function is no longer required. These proteins are targeted to proteolytic degradation by tagging them with polymeric chains of ubiquitin. Ubiquitin is a small protein composed of 76 amino acids, which is highly conserved among eukaryotes. Its name reflects its ubiquitous expression in essentially all eukaryotic cells. Ubiquitin tagging and polymerization occur at lysine residues. The first ubiquitin monomer in the polyubiquitin chain attaches to a lysine residue on the target protein, followed by attachment of additional ubiquitin subunits to lysine 48 of the previously attached monomer. While attachment of ubiquitin monomers through lysine residues 29 and 63 during the process of polyubiquitination has been reported, it is believed that this alternative polyubiquitin chain structure is intended for cellular processes other than protein degradation [9]. Polyubiquinated proteins are recognized and degraded by the 26S proteasome, consisting of the 19S regulatory particle that recognizes, selects and binds the polyubiquitinated proteins, cleaves the polyubiquitin chains and forwards the targeted polypeptide into the lumen of the 20S core particle, where proteolytic degradation takes place [10,11].

Polyubiquitination of a target protein requires ubiquitinactivating (E1) and ubiquitin-conjugating (E2) enzymes, as well as ubiquitin ligase (E3) (reviewed in [12]). E1 activates ubiquitin monomers and transfers them to the conjugating enzyme E2, which either attaches them to the target protein by itself or is directed to do so by the E3 ligase. E3 ligases represent the largest and most diverse group of ubiquitinating enzymes. This diversity makes biological sense. E3 ligases have evolved to target a wide spectrum of cellular as well as foreign, e.g., pathogen-derived, proteins destined for degradation by the 26S proteasome. This diversity of targets requires a comparable diversity of the E3 ligases that recognize them. Presently, there are four known E3 ligase families: HECT, SCF, APC, and RING/U-box, classified based on their subunit composition and mechanism of action (reviewed in [12,13]), which include hundreds of protein species. The Arabidopsis genome, for example, encodes over 1200 different components of the E3 ligase complexes [13,14]. The base function of E2 enzymes is to carry the activated ubiquitin moiety to the target polypeptide, and they are therefore frequently referred to as ubiquitin-carrier (UBC) proteins. Because E2 enzymes are often targeted to their substrates by the E3 ligases, they need not be significantly diversified, and only a few dozen of them are found in the genome of Arabidopsis [13,14]. Finally, only two genes coding for the E1 enzymes, which catalyze ATPmediated ubiquitin activation, are found in the Arabidopsis genome [13,14], placing the ubiquitin-activating E1 enzymes at the apex of the E-enzyme hierarchy of diversity, followed by more diverse E2 enzymes and the highly diverse components of the E3 ligase complex.

One of the better studied E3 ligases (reviewed in [12]) is the Skp1/Cullin/F-box protein (SCF) complex [15,16]. Yeast SCF complexes have been extensively characterized, and they consist of a scaffold protein, Cdc53 or Cullin, a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Cdc34, Rbx1 which helps recruit and activate Cdc34, and Skp1 which recruits the F-box protein (reviewed in [16,17]). F-box proteins—a highly diversified type of polypeptide with almost 700 predicted members in the *Arabidopsis* proteome [18]—are responsible for substrate recognition of the SCF complex. The F-box motif is typically located in the protein's N-terminal region, and it medi-

ates interaction with the rest of the SCF complex via Skp1, while the highly variable C terminus of F-box proteins mediates interaction with the target protein. Thus, by associating with different F-box proteins, SCF complexes can be targeted to different and specific substrate proteins [17].

In plants, F-box proteins have been shown to play a key role in a variety of cellular functions and developmental processes [15,19–22], and they are also beginning to emerge as a crucial factor in plant immunity and defense mechanisms [23,24]. A number of ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway-related genes are now known to be involved in plant–pathogen interactions. Below, we focus on specific examples of how proteasomal degradation is involved in plant defense responses to pathogens and how some plant pathogens can take over this component of the host defense system (summarized in Fig. 1).

3. Proteasomal degradation and plant viral infection

3.1. Proteasomal degradation and R-protein-mediated defense

The plant response to pathogens often relies on the conserved network of R-proteins (reviewed in [1,3]). Most R-proteins fall into five distinct classes based on their structural motifs. The *N* gene of tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*), mediating the innate plant response to *Tobacco mosaic virus* (TMV) [6,25,26], encodes a class 3 R-protein, defined by leucine-rich repeats, a putative nucleotide-binding site and an N-terminal region with similarity to the Toll-Interleukin 1 Receptor (TIR) proteins [3,27]. The *N* gene confers resistance to TMV by inducing a hypersensitive response and necrosis, which confines the virus to the local site of infection [26].

One of the key components acting downstream of multiple Rproteins, including the tobacco N gene product, and upstream of peroxide-induced cell death, is RAR1, implicated in defense mechanisms in a variety of plant species [28-30]. The RAR1 gene of Nicotiana benthamiana is required for functionality of the N-genemediated defenses [6]. RAR1 interacts with SGT1, a conserved component of the SCF complex, which binds to Skp1 [31,32]. All three proteins, RAR1, SGT1 and SKP1, are also present in a single complex in planta [6]. Both RAR1 and SGT1 interact in vivo with CSN4, one of the components of the COP9 signalosome, a complex involved in protein degradation via the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway [33]. SCF and COP9 complexes act in concert, and COP9 has been shown to play a key role in mediating the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of SCF [34]. Suppression of either SGT1, SKP1-and thus the entire SCF complex-or the COP9 signalosome using virus-induced gene silencing (VIGS) in transgenic *N. benthamiana* plants carrying the tobacco *N* gene abolished the normal N-gene-mediated response to viral infection. Since the SCF and COP9 complexes are directly involved in the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway, it is likely that the resistance mediated by the N gene is based on SCF/COP9 targeting of specific cellular proteins, such as negative regulators of defense response and/or apoptosis inhibitors, directing them to proteasomal degradation and allowing initiation of the anti-pathogen response and programmed cell death (PCD) of the infected cells. Notably, the N-gene-mediated resistance mechanism may be conserved among different plant species, as overexpression of Arabidopsis SGT1 was able to rescue N-gene responses in SGT1-suppressed N. benthamiana plants [6].

3.2. Proteasomal degradation of viral movement proteins

Plant viruses spread from cell to cell via the plasmodesmata, the plant's intercellular connection. Viral movement through plasmodesmata is facilitated by virus-encoded movement proteins (MPs) (reviewed in [35–37]). While MP sequences are not significantly

V. Citovsky et al. / Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 20 (2009) 1048-1054



Fig. 1. Summary of the key processes involving proteasomal degradation in plant–pathogen interactions. Viruses: *Tobacco mosaic virus* (TMV) intrusion activates the *N* genemediated response, which involves the SCF complex. The TMV movement protein (MP) and misfolded coat protein (CP) are polyubiquitinated and degraded by the proteasome. The TMV coat protein (CP) is also monoubiquitinated, but the role of this monoubiquitination remains obscure. Poleroviral RNA silencing suppressor PO is an F-box protein that targets AGO1, a key component of the RISC complex, and destabilizes via the SCF^{PO} pathway, thereby inhibiting silencing of the viral RNA by the host. Bacteria: uncoating of the *Agrobacterium* T-complex prior to T-DNA integration and/or expression is promoted by the bacterial F-box protein VirF, exported into the host cell with via the type IV secretion system (T4SS). VirF binds the host VIP1 protein which, in turn, associates with the T-complex packaging protein VirE2, these interactions direct VIP1 and VirE2 to degradation by the 26S proteasome via the SCF^{VirF} pathway. *Pseudomonas syringae* AvrPtoB effector protein, exported into the host cell via the type III secretion system (T3SS), is detected by the plant cell Pto resistance protein, conferring resistance. In susceptible plants which lack Pto, AvrPtoB interacts with ubiquitin and, presumably, the host proteasomal degradation machinery to inhibit PCD response and promote disease progression. An additional P. syringae effector protein, HopM1, destabilizes a vesicle trafficking-related protein AtMIN7, contributing to suppression of host responses to the infection. Fungal pathogens are counteracted by a general immune defense F-box protein OsDRF1, which likely functions in the SCF^{DRF1} complex. For further details, see text.

conserved among different viral families [38], many MPs possess a set of common properties, including the ability to bind singlestranded nucleic acids, interact with the cytoskeleton and increase the size-exclusion limit of plasmodesmata to allow transport of MP-viral genomic RNA complexes through these intercellular connections (reviewed in [35–37]). One of the models for MP function involves binding to the viral genome, docking it to plasmodesmata, and then facilitating its transport into the neighboring cell by increasing the plasmodesmal size-exclusion limit (reviewed in [35–37]).

MPs of several plant viruses may be targeted by the proteasomal degradation machinery of the host cell. For example, treatment of virus-infected tobacco protoplasts with proteasomal inhibitors MG115 or *clasto*-lactacystin- β -lactone resulted in the accumulation of polyubiquitinated forms of MP, indicating involvement of the 26S proteasome in MP turnover [39]. Similarly, MP of *Turnip yellow mosaic virus* (TYMV) has been shown to be a substrate for polyubiquitination [40].

What remains unclear, however, is whether it is the plant defense response or the virus itself that triggers proteasomal degradation of MPs. On the one hand, the MP is central for the spread of viral infection, which makes it an obvious target for the host defense machinery. On the other hand, MP accumulation is detrimental to the host, for example, due to its deposition in and interference with plasmodesmata [41] and/or disruption of the cell endoplasmic reticulum [42]. Removal of excess MP, therefore, is important to maintain host viability, which is required for persistent viral infection. In this case, targeting of excess MP to the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway may represent an example of exploitation of the host cellular pathway by the virus for effective invasion. Interestingly, suppression of the host ubiquitination machinery leads to increased plant resistance to TMV infection, supporting the notion that MP-targeted proteolysis is beneficial to the pathogen. Perturbation of the plant ubiquitin system by expression of a ubiquitin variant with a lysine-to-arginine substitution at position 48 inhibited TMV infection [43], suggesting that the host ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway may, in fact, assist viral attack.

While plant viruses move locally from cell to cell via plasmodesmata in non-vascular tissues, systemic, long-distance viral transport occurs though the phloem (reviewed in [35,44]). This systemic movement is impaired by inhibition of the 26S proteasome. Specifically, VIGS-mediated silencing of RPN9, one of the 26S proteasome subunits, has been shown to inhibit the systemic spread of two taxonomically distinct viruses, TMV and *Turnip mosaic virus* (TuMV), in *N. benthamiana* [45]. RNP9 is involved in auxin transport and brassinosteroid signaling, two processes that are crucial for vascular tissue formation. Thus, the effect of the ubiquitin/26S proteasome on viral systemic movement may be indirect, via developmental disruption of the viral spread conduit, the host vasculature [45].

Unlike TMV MP, TMV coat protein (CP) is only monoubiquitinated [46]. Because just a minute portion of the total TMV CP that accumulates in the infected cells undergoes monoubiquitination [46], and poly-, rather than monoubiquitination, is required for protein targeting to proteasomal degradation, CP monoubiquitination may not be important for CP turnover. Instead, it may play a regulatory role in an as-yet undetermined event during the TMV-host interaction. At the same time, misfolded TMV CP is massively polyubiquitinated in tobacco cells, apparently directing it to the conventional proteasomal degradation pathway [47].

3.3. Involvement of proteasomal degradation in the activity of viral RNA-silencing suppressors

In addition to R-protein-mediated immunity, plants have evolved another innate immune response to invading viruses, which is based on post-transcriptional RNA silencing [48–51]. In most cases, this response is induced by viral genomic or transcript RNA molecules, and it involves conversion of single-stranded RNA into double-stranded RNA by RDR6 (reviewed in [52–54]). Doublestranded RNAs are then processed by the cellular machinery to produce small interfering (si) RNAs that are incorporated into RNAinduced silencing complexes (RISCs), within which siRNAs direct the cleavage of the complementary viral transcripts [55,56].

To counteract the plant's antiviral response, many viruses encode suppressor proteins that block host RNA silencing by targeting different steps of the silencing pathway [57-60]. One of these viral RNA-silencing suppressors, the PO protein of poleroviruses, is an F-box protein that interacts with the host cell's SKP1 protein. This interaction occurs via the PO F-box domain, and it is required for the biological activity of PO [61], indicating that this viral silencing suppressor may function within an SCF^{P0} complex. PO also interacts directly with the key component of the RISC, ARG-ONAUTE1 (AGO1), destabilizing it [62,63]. Surprisingly, however, the PO-induced degradation of AGO1 is not affected by the proteasomal inhibitor MG132 [62], leaving the question of the 26S proteasome's involvement in PO activity unresolved. Nevertheless, the fact that a plant virus has evolved an F-box protein to hijack the host SCF complexes for suppression of antiviral defense suggests that the cellular SCF pathway not only acts to protect the plant against viruses (as in the case of the *N* gene), but is also exploited by the invading virus to facilitate infection.

4. Proteasomal degradation in fungal and bacterial infection

4.1. Proteasomal degradation in antifungal defense

Recently, the rice (Oryza sativa) defense-related F-box 1 (OsDRF1) protein has been identified and shown to participate in plant antifungal defenses [64]. Expression of OsDRF1 is induced by treatment with benzothiadiazole, a general inducer of the plant defense response [65-67], as well as by inoculation with the rice blast fungus Magnaporthe grisea [64]. Importantly, when the OsDRF1 gene was introduced into the genome of a heterologous plant species, tobacco the resulting transgenic plants exhibited enhanced resistance to viral (Tomato mosaic virus, ToMV) and bacterial (Pseudomonas syringae) pathogens, indicating the general nature of OsDRF1's function in plant defense [64]. OsDRF1 could potentially represent one of the key regulators of plant immunity, for example, by destabilizing a conserved inhibitor(s) of the defense response. This idea gains support from the observations that, in response to salicylic acid treatment or ToMV inoculation, the expression levels of two general defense-related genes, PR-1a and Sar8.2b [68], were elevated to a higher degree in OsDRF1transgenic tobacco than in the wild-type plants, suggesting that OsDRF1 enhances the overall responsiveness of plant defense [64]. However, because expression of OsDRF1 was not induced by general stress factors, this F-box protein is most likely specific to the plant's immune, rather than general, stress responses [64].

4.2. Proteasomal uncoating of Agrobacterium T-DNA

Both animal and plant bacterial pathogens use type III and/or type IV secretion systems to inject host cells with effector proteins, which often mimic the functions of the eukaryotic factors that are required for infection and provided by the host cells (reviewed in [69]). One of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*' effector proteins is an F-box protein that insinuates itself into the host ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway and subverts it to enhance infection (reviewed in [5,69]).

Agrobacterium is a phytopathogenic gram-negative soil bacterium that causes crown-gall disease in plants, manifested by neoplastic growths resulting from integration of transferred DNA (T-DNA), derived from the bacterial tumor-inducing (Ti) plasmid, into the plant nuclear genome (reviewed in [70–72]). Besides being a natural phytopathogen, *Agrobacterium* is perhaps the most commonly used vector for gene transfer into plants, in both research and biotechnology applications [73], representing a unique example of natural trans-kingdom DNA transfer. Furthermore, under laboratory conditions, *Agrobacterium* has the capacity to genetically transform virtually any eukaryotic cell [74].

Agrobacterium T-DNA transfer is induced by plant-specific signals, usually wound-released phenolic compounds, that activate the virulence (*vir*) gene region on the Ti plasmid. The T-DNA is then mobilized from the Ti plasmid as a single-stranded DNA molecule (T-strand) by the VirD1/VirD2 helicase/endonuclease protein complex. The effectors of the T-strand, with a single molecule of VirD2 covalently attached to its 5' end as well as several Vir proteins, are introduced into the plant cell via the type IV secretion system. In the host-cell cytoplasm, the T-strand is packaged by the bacterial single-stranded DNA-binding protein VirE2. The resulting transfer (T) nucleoprotein complex is imported into the host-cell nucleus via the cellular importin α pathway. The T-complex is then targeted to the host chromatin and stripped of its protein components, and the T-strand integrates into the host genome (reviewed in [71–73,75,76–79]). The native Agrobacterium T-DNA encodes a set of plant oncogenes [80] which promote uncontrolled division of the transformed cells, as well as genes specifying the production of opines—amino acid and sugar phosphate derivatives secreted by the transformed cells and utilized almost exclusively by the Agrobacterium as a carbon and nitrogen source [81]. Different Agrobacterium strains are classified as octopine or nopaline types, according to the class of opines encoded by their T-DNA [81].

Nuclear import of the T-complex and its chromatin targeting are facilitated by the host VirE2 Interacting Protein 1 (VIP1), which binds to VirE2, importin α and nucleosomes, acting as a molecular adaptor between the T-complex and, first, the nuclear import machinery and then, the chromatin [82-86]. Whereas the protein components of the T-complex, such VirE2 and its associated VIP1, are critical for its intracellular movement, they become a liability before integration as they physically mask the DNA molecule. Thus, once the T-complex reaches the host chromatin, its proteins must be removed. Recent evidence suggests that another exported Agrobacterium effector, VirF, may promote this uncoating. VirF is an F-box protein that interacts with the plant SKP1 proteins [87,88]. VirF also binds VIP1 and destabilizes it in plant and yeast cells [88], which are known to be genetically transformed by Agrobacterium [89,90]. Furthermore, VirF, which does not recognize VirE2, can promote VirE2 destabilization in the presence of VIP1 [88], suggesting that VirF can destabilize the entire VIP1-VirE2 complex. In yeast, VIP1 and VirE2 destabilization by VirF is Skp1-dependent as it does not occur in a *skp1-4* mutant [91], indicating that this destabilization occurs via the SCF^{VirF} pathway [88]. That VirF may help to uncoat the Tcomplex docked at the host chromatin is supported by the ability of VirF to associate simultaneously with purified VIP1, VirE2, singlestranded DNA and nucleosomes in vitro [82]. The involvement of the 26S proteasome in Agrobacterium infection is consistent with the inhibitory effect of the proteasomal inhibitor MG132 on the transformation process [88].

Historically, VirF, which is encoded by the octopine-type, but not nopaline-type *Agrobacterium* strains, has been considered a bacterial host-range factor [92–94]. For example, VirF enhances *Agrobacterium* infectivity in tomato and tree tobacco (*Nicotiana glauca*) [94], but it is not required for infection of tobacco or *Arabidopsis*. Thus, plant species whose infection does not require VirF may encode F-box protein functions that can substitute for VirF during transformation. Our recent experiments (AZ, AK, VC, unpublished) have identified such an *Arabidopsis* F-box protein, which is induced by *Agrobacterium* infection and promotes proteasomal destabilization of VIP1 and VirE2 in yeast and *in planta*. Collectively, these data suggest that *Agrobacterium* has evolved to utilize the host ubiquitin/26S proteasome system for enhancement of its infectivity and expansion of its host range.

4.3. 26S proteasome in R-protein-mediated response to Pseudomonas syringae

Another case of a bacterial effector that is delivered to the host plant cell and likely participates in proteasomal degradation is AvrPtoB of *P. syringae*. This protein is exported from the bacterium via the type III secretion system and functions to prevent the host PCD response to infection (reviewed in [95]). To counteract AvrPtoB, tomato plants resistant to *P. syringae* express a native R-protein, Pto, which recognizes AvrPtoB and elicits a hypersensitive response, leading to rapid localized PCD which limits the infection. In the susceptible tomato plants, which lack Pto, AvrPtoB suppresses PCD, allowing efficient infection and development of the disease [96,97]. The C-terminal domain of AvrPtoB shares homology with the RING/U-box family of E3 ubiquitin ligases. It possesses E3 ligase activity *in vitro* [7], and interacts specifically with the tomato ubiquitin [8]. Inactivation of the E3 ligase activity of AvrPtoB leads

to its loss of function, and transient expression of such a mutated AvrPtoB in tomato leaves was unable to suppress PCD. Furthermore, *P. syringae* expressing the mutant AvrPtoB lost its anti-apoptotic ability and exhibited significantly suppressed virulence in tomato [7].

Yet another P. syringae effector protein exported into the host cell, HopM1 [98], has been shown to interact with Arabidopsis immunity-associated (AtMIN) proteins [99]. Transient expression of HopM1 in N. benthamiana leaves or bacterial infection of Arabidopsis resulted in reduced levels of the AtMIN7 protein. Importantly, HopM1 did not affect AtMIN7 transcription, while the proteasomal inhibitors MG132 and epoxomicin completely blocked the HopM1-mediated reduction in AtMIN7 protein level [99]. Thus, HopM1 likely binds and destabilizes AtMIN7 via the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway. Because HopM1 does not share homology with the E3 ligases, it most probably serves as a molecular linker between AtMIN7 and the bona fide proteasomal degradation machinery of the host cell. Interestingly, AtMIN7 may be involved in the vesicle trafficking system which is linked to the polarized cell-wall-associated defense in plants [100,101]. Destabilization of AtMIN7 promoted by HopM1, which also localizes to the host-cell endomembrane system [99], may therefore disable vesicular trafficking in the host cell, thereby suppressing cellular defenses.

5. Concluding remarks

Plant cell proteasomal degradation pathways may play a dual role in the infection process (summarized in Fig. 1): they may represent the host's defense against the pathogen, as in the case of tobacco *N*-gene-mediated resistance, or they may present the pathogen with an opportunity to enhance its infectivity, as in the case of proteasomal uncoating of the *Agrobacterium* T-complex. In other cases, the beneficiary is less clear: does TMV, the host, or both benefit from reduced levels of TMV MP following proteasomal degradation?

This ambivalent role of proteasomal degradation in the plant defense response may result from the close co-evolution of plants and their pathogens. It is likely that some 26S proteasomebased immune responses, initially employed by plants to ward off invaders, have been subverted by pathogens in the course of evolution. Interestingly, similar "hijacking" of the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway to circumvent host immune responses is employed by animal pathogens. Examples of such pathogens include the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), whose US11 protein contributes to proteasomal degradation of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules, thus evading recognition by the host immune system [102], or the human papillomavirus (HPV) oncoprotein E6, which promotes proteasomal degradation of the cellular tumor suppressor protein p53 [103]. So is the 26S proteasome friend or foe in the plant's encounter with pathogens? The answer may be: both.

Acknowledgements

We apologize to colleagues whose original works were not cited due to lack of space. The work in our laboratory is supported by grants from NIH, NSF, USDA, BARD, and BSF to V.C.

References

- [1] Jones JD, Dangl JL. The plant immune system. Nature 2006;444:323-9.
- [2] Voinnet O. Induction and suppression of RNA silencing: insights from viral infections. Nat Rev Genet 2005;6:206–20.
- [3] Martin GB, Bogdanove AJ, Sessa G. Understanding the functions of plant disease resistance proteins. Annu Rev Plant Biol 2003;54:23–61.
- [4] Smalle J, Vierstra RD. The ubiquitin 26S proteasome proteolytic pathway. Annu Rev Plant Biol 2004;55:555–90.

V. Citovsky et al. / Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 20 (2009) 1048–1054

- [5] Angot A, Vergunst A, Genin S, Peeters N. Exploitation of eukaryotic ubiquitin signaling pathways by effectors translocated by bacterial type III and type IV secretion systems. PLoS Pathog 2007;3:e3.
- Liu Y, Schiff M, Serino G, Deng XW, Dinesh-Kumar SP. Role of SCF ubiquitin-[6] ligase and the COP9 signalosome in the N gene-mediated resistance response to Tobacco mosaic virus. Plant Cell 2002;14:1483-96.
- [7] Janjusevic R, Abramovitch RB, Martin GB, Stebbins CE. A bacterial inhibitor of host programmed cell death defenses is an E3 ubiquitin ligase. Science 2006:311:222-6.
- [8] Abramovitch RB, Janjusevic R, Stebbins CE, Martin GB. Type III effector AvrPtoB requires intrinsic E3 ubiquitin ligase activity to suppress plant cell death and immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:2851–6.
- [9] Marx J. Ubiquitin lives up to its name. Science 2002;297:1792-4.
- [10] Wolf DH, Hilt W. The proteasome: a proteolytic nanomachine of cell regulation and waste disposal. Biochim Biophys Acta 2004;1695:19-31.
- [11] Coux O, Tanaka K, Goldberg AL. Structure and functions of the 20S and 26S proteasomes. Annu Rev Biochem 1996;65:801-47.
- [12] Zeng LR, Vega-Sánchez ME, Zhu T, Wang GL. Ubiquitination-mediated protein degradation and modification: an emerging theme in plant-microbe interactions. Cell Res 2006;16:413-26.
- [13] Vierstra RD. The ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway, the complex last chapter
- in the life of many plant proteins. Trends Plant Sci 2003;8:135–42. [14] Kraft E, Stone SL, Ma L, Su N, Gao Y, Lau OS, et al. Genome analysis and functional characterization of the E2 and RING-type E3 ligase ubiquitination enzymes of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 2005;139:1597-611.
- [15] Lechner E, Achard P, Vansiri A, Potuschak T, Genschik P. F-box proteins everywhere. Curr Opin Plant Biol 2006;9:631-8.
- [16] Deshaies RJ. SCF and Cullin/Ring H2-based ubiquitin ligases. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1999:15:435-67.
- Patton EE, Willems AR, Tyers M. Combinatorial control in ubiquitin-dependent [17] proteolysis: don't Skp the F-box hypothesis. Trends Genet 1998;14:236–43.
- [18] Gagne JM, Downes BP, Shiu SH, Durski AM, Vierstra RD. The F-box subunit of the SCFE3 complex is encoded by a diverse superfamily of genes in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002:99:11519-24.
- [19] Imaizumi T, Schultz TF, Harmon FG, Ho LA, Kay SA. FKF1 F-box protein mediates cyclic degradation of a repressor of CONSTANS in Arabidopsis. Science 2005;309:293-7.
- [20] Dong L, Wang L, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Deng X, Xue Y. An auxin-inducible F-box protein CEGENDUO negatively regulates auxin-mediated lateral root formation in Arabidopsis. Plant Mol Biol 2006;60:599-615.
- [21] Qiao H, Wang H, Zhao L, Zhou J, Huang J, Zhang Y, et al. The F-box protein AhSLF-S2 physically interacts with S-RNases that may be inhibited by the ubiquitin/26S proteasome pathway of protein degradation during compatible pollination in Antirrhinum. Plant Cell 2004; 16:582-95.
- [22] Moon J, Parry G, Estelle M. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and plant development. Plant Cell 2004;16:3181-95.
- [23] Kim HS, Delaney TP. Arabidopsis SON1 is an F-box protein that regulates a novel induced defense response independent of both salicylic acid and systemic acquired resistance. Plant Cell 2002:14:1469-82.
- [24] Li L, Zhao Y, McCaig BC, Wingerd BA, Wang J, Whalon ME, et al. The tomato homolog of CORONATINE-INSENSITIVE1 is required for the maternal control of seed maturation, jasmonate-signaled defense responses, and glandular trichome development. Plant Cell 2004;16:126-43.
- [25] Whitham S, McCormick S, Baker B. The N gene of tobacco confers resistance to Tobacco mosaic virus in transgenic tomato. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:8776-81.
- [26] Liu Y, Schiff M, Marathe R, Dinesh-Kumar SP. Tobacco Rar1, EDS1 and NPR1/NIM1 like genes are required for N-mediated resistance to Tobacco mosaic virus. Plant J 2002;30:415-29.
- [27] Whitham S, Dinesh-Kumar SP, Choi D, Hehl R, Corr C, Baker B. The product of the *Tobacco mosaic virus* resistance gene *N*: similarity to Toll and the interleukin-1 receptor. Cell 1994;78:1101–15.
- [28] Wang Y, Gao M, Li Q, Wang L, Wang J, Jeon JS, et al. OsRAR1 and OsSGT1 physically interact and function in rice basal disease resistance. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 2008;21:294–303.
- [29] Halterman DA, Wise RP. A single-amino acid substitution in the sixth leucinerich repeat of barley MLA6 and MLA13 alleviates dependence on RAR1 for disease resistance signaling. Plant J 2004;38:215–26.
- [30] Muskett PR, Kahn K, Austin MJ, Moisan LJ, Sadanandom A, Shirasu K, et al. Arabidopsis RAR1 exerts rate-limiting control of R gene-mediated defenses against multiple pathogens. Plant Cell 2002;14:979–92.
- [31] Kitagawa K, Skowyra D, Elledge SJ, Harper JW, Hieter P. SGT1 encodes an essential component of the yeast kinetochore assembly pathway and a novel subunit of the SCF ubiquitin ligase complex. Mol Cell 1999;4:21-33.
- [32] Austin MJ, Muskett P, Kahn K, Feys BJ, Jones JD, Parker JE. Regulatory role of SGT1 in early R gene-mediated plant defenses. Science 2002;295: 2077-80.
- [33] Wei N, Deng XW. The COP9 signalosome. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2003;19: 261-86.
- [34] Cope GA, Deshaies RJ. COP9 signalosome: a multifunctional regulator of SCF and other cullin-based ubiquitin ligases. Cell 2003;114:663-71.
- [35] Waigmann E, Ueki S, Trutnyeva K, Citovsky V. The ins and outs of nondestructive cell-to-cell and systemic movement of plant viruses. Crit Rev Plant Sci 2004;23:195-250.
- [36] Lucas WJ. Plant viral movement proteins: agents for cell-to-cell trafficking of viral genomes. Virology 2006;344:169-84.

- [37] Boevink P, Oparka KJ. Virus-host interactions during movement processes. Plant Physiol 2005;138:1815-21.
- [38] Mushegian AR, Koonin EV. Cell-to-cell movement of plant viruses. Insights from amino acid sequence comparisons of movement proteins and from analogies with cellular transport systems. Arch Virol 1993;133:239–57.
- [39] Reichel C, Beachy RN. Degradation of Tobacco mosaic virus movement protein by the 26S proteasome. J Virol 2000;74:3330-7.
- [40] Drugeon G, Jupin I. Stability in vitro of the 69K movement protein of Turnip yellow mosaic virus is regulated by the ubiquitin-mediated proteasome pathway. I Gen Virol 2002:83:3187-97.
- Ding B, Haudenshield JS, Hull RJ, Wolf S, Beachy RN, Lucas WJ. Secondary plasmodesmata are specific sites of localization of the Tobacco mosaic virus movement protein in transgenic tobacco plants. Plant Cell 1992;4: 915-28
- [42] Reichel C, Beachy RN. Tobacco mosaic virus infection induces severe morphological changes of the endoplasmic reticulum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998:95:11169-74
- [43] Becker F, Buschfeld E, Schell J, Bachmair A. Altered response to viral infection by tobacco plants perturbed in ubiquitin system. Plant J 1993;3:875-81.
- [44] Scholthof HB. Plant virus transport: motions of functional equivalence. Trends Plant Sci 2005;10:376-82.
- [45] Jin H, Li S, Villegas Jr A. Down-regulation of the 26S proteasome subunit RPN9 inhibits viral systemic transport and alters plant vascular development. Plant Physiol 2006;142:651–61.
- [46] Dunigan DD, Dietzgen RG, Schoelz JE, Zaitlin M. Tobacco mosaic virus particles contain ubiquitinated coat protein subunits. Virology 1988;165:310-2
- [47] Jockusch H, Wiegand C. Misfolded plant virus proteins: elicitors and targets of ubiquitylation. FEBS Lett 2003;545:229-32.
- [48] Stram Y, Kuzntzova L. Inhibition of viruses by RNA interference. Virus Genes 2006;32:299-306.
- [49] Wang MB, Metzlaff M. RNA silencing and antiviral defense in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 2005;8:216-22.
- Vanitharani R, Chellappan P, Fauquet CM. Geminiviruses and RNA silencing. Trends Plant Sci 2005;10:144-51.
- [51] Soosaar JL, Burch-Smith TM, Dinesh-Kumar SP. Mechanisms of plant resistance to viruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 2005:3:789–98.
- Vaucheret H. Post-transcriptional small RNA pathways in plants: mechanisms [52] and regulations. Genes Dev 2006;20:759-71.
- [53] Muangsan N, Béclin C, Vaucheret H, Robertson D. Geminivirus VIGS of endogenous genes requires SGS2/SDE1 and SGS3 and defines a new branch in the genetic pathway for silencing in plants. Plant J 2004;38:1004–14.
- [54] Béclin C, Boutet S, Waterhouse P, Vaucheret H. A branched pathway for transgene-induced RNA silencing in plants. Curr Biol 2002;12:684–8.
- Zamore PD. Plant RNAi: how a viral silencing suppressor inactivates siRNA. [55] Curr Biol 2004;14:R198-200.
- [56] Chapman EJ, Prokhnevsky AI, Gopinath K, Dolja VV, Carrington JC. Viral RNA silencing suppressors inhibit the microRNA pathway at an intermediate step. Genes Dev 2004.18.1179-86
- Pooggin MM, Dreyfus M, Hohn T. mRNA enigmas: the silence of the genes. Int Arch Biosci 2001;2001:1023-6.
- [58] Vance V, Vaucheret H. RNA silencing in plants-defense and counterdefense. Science 2001;292:2277-80.
- [59] Baulcombe DC. Viral suppression of systemic silencing. Trends Microbiol 2002:10:306-8.
- [60] Bisaro DM. Silencing suppression by geminivirus proteins. Virology 2006;344: 158-68.
- [61] Pazhouhandeh M, Dieterle M, Marrocco K, Lechner E, Berry B, Brault V, et al. F-box-like domain in the polerovirus protein P0 is required for silencing suppressor function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:1994-9.
- [62] Baumberger N, Tsai CH, Lie M, Havecker E, Baulcombe DC. The Polerovirus silencing suppressor PO targets ARGONAUTE proteins for degradation. Curr Biol 2007;17:1609–14.
- [63] Bortolamiol D, Pazhouhandeh M, Marrocco K, Genschik P, Ziegler-Graff V. The Polerovirus F box protein P0 targets ARGONAUTE1 to suppress RNA silencing. Curr Biol 2007; 17: 1615-21.
- Cao Y, Yang Y, Zhang H, Li D, Zheng Z, Song F. Overexpression of a rice defense-related F-box protein gene OsDRF1 in tobacco improves disease resistance through potentiation of defense gene expression. Physiol Plant 2008;134:440-52.
- [65] Gorlach J, Volrath S, Knauf-Beiter G, Hengy G, Beckhove U, Kogel KH, et al. Benzothiadiazole, a novel class of inducers of systemic acquired resistance, activates gene expression and disease resistance in wheat. Plant Cell 1996.629-43
- [66] Ge X, Song F, Zheng Z. Systemic acquired resistance to Magnaporthe grisea in rice induced by BTH. Acta Agri Zhejiangensis 1999;11:311-4.
- [67] Zhang W, Ge X, Song F, Zheng Z. Systemic acquired resistance of rice against sheath blight disease induced by benzothiadiazole. Acta Phytophylacica Sinica 2003;30:171-6.
- [68] Song F, Goodman RM. Cloning and identification of the promoter of the tobacco Sar8.2b gene, a gene involved in systemic acquired resistance. Gene 2002;290:115-24.
- Nagai H, Roy CR. Show me the substrates: modulation of host cell function by [69] type IV secretion systems. Cell Microbiol 2003;5:373-83.
- [70] Zupan J, Muth TR, Draper O, Zambryski PC. The transfer of DNA from Agrobacterium tumefaciens into plants: a feast of fundamental insights. Plant J 2000;23:11-28.

V. Citovsky et al. / Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 20 (2009) 1048-1054

- [71] Tzfira T, Citovsky V. Partners-in-infection: host proteins involved in the transformation of plant cells by Agrobacterium. Trends Cell Biol 2002;12:121–9.
- [72] Gelvin SB. Agrobacterium and plant genes involved in T-DNA transfer and integration. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 2000;51:223–56.
- [73] Tzfira T, Citovsky V. *Agrobacterium*-mediated genetic transformation of plants: biology and biotechnology. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2006;17:147–54.
- [74] Lacroix B, Tzfira T, Vainstein A, Citovsky V. A case of promiscuity: Agrobacterium's endless hunt for new partners. Trends Genet 2006;22:29–37.
- [75] Christie PJ, Atmakuri K, Krishnamoorthy V, Jakubowski S, Cascales E. Biogenesis, architecture, and function of bacterial type IV secretion systems. Annu Rev Microbiol 2005;59:451–85.
- [76] Christie PJ. Type IV secretion: the Agrobacterium VirB/D4 and related conjugation systems. Biochim Biophys Acta 2004;1694:219–34.
- [77] Citovsky V, Kozlovsky SV, Lacroix B, Zaltsman A, Dafni M, Vyas S, et al. Biological systems of the host cell involved in *Agrobacterium* infection. Cell Microbiol 2007;9:9–20.
- [78] Gelvin SB. Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation: the biology behind the "gene-jockeying" tool. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2003;67:16–37.
- [79] Tzfira T, Li J, Lacroix B, Citovsky V. Agrobacterium T-DNA integration: molecules and models. Trends Genet 2004;20:375–83.
- [80] Gaudin V, Vrain T, Jouanin L. Bacterial genes modifying hormonal balances in plants. Plant Physiol Biochem 1994;32:11–29.
 [81] Hooykaas PJJ, Beijersbergen AGM. The virulence system of Agrobacterium
- *tumefaciens*. Annu Rev Phytopathol 1994;32:157–79. [82] Lacroix B, Loyter A, Citovsky V. Association of the *Agrobacterium* T-
- DNA-protein complex with plant nucleosomes. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 2008;105:15429–34.
- [83] Loyter A, Rosenbluh J, Zakai N, Li J, Kozlovsky SV, Tzfira T, et al. The plant VirE2 interacting protein 1. A molecular link between the Agrobacterium T-complex and the host cell chromatin? Plant Physiol 2005;138: 1318–21.
- [84] Li J, Krichevsky A, Vaidya M, Tzfira T, Citovsky V. Uncoupling of the functions of the *Arabidopsis* VIP1 protein in transient and stable plant genetic transformation by *Agrobacterium*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102: 5733–8.
- [85] Tzfira T, Vaidya M, Citovsky V. Increasing plant susceptibility to Agrobacterium infection by overexpression of the Arabidopsis VIP1 gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:10435–40.
- [86] Tzfira T, Vaidya M, Citovsky V. VIP1, an Arabidopsis protein that interacts with Agrobacterium VirE2, is involved in VirE2 nuclear import and Agrobacterium infectivity. EMBO J 2001;20:3596–607.
- [87] Schrammeijer B, Risseeuw E, Pansegrau W, Regensburg-Tuïnk TJG, Crosby WL, Hooykaas PJJ. Interaction of the virulence protein VirF of Agrobacterium tumefaciens with plant homologs of the yeast Skp1 protein. Curr Biol 2001;11:258–62.
- [88] Tzfira T, Vaidya M, Citovsky V. Involvement of targeted proteolysis in plant genetic transformation by Agrobacterium. Nature 2004;431:87–92.

- [89] Piers KL, Heath JD, Liang X, Stephens KM, Nester EW. Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996:93:1613–8.
- [90] Bundock P, den Dulk-Ras A, Beijersbergen A, Hooykaas PJJ. Trans-kingdom T-DNA transfer from Agrobacterium tumefaciens to Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J 1995;14:3206-14.
- [91] Connelly C, Hieter P. Budding yeast SKP1 encodes an evolutionarily conserved kinetochore protein required for cell cycle progression. Cell 1996;86:275–85.
- [92] Melchers LS, Maroney MJ, den Dulk-Ras A, Thompson DV, van Vuuren HA, Schilperoort RA, et al. Octopine and nopaline strains of Agrobacterium tumefaciens differ in virulence; molecular characterization of the virF locus. Plant Mol Biol 1990;14:249–59.
- [93] Jarchow E, Grimsley NH, Hohn B. virF, the host range-determining virulence gene of Agrobacterium tumefaciens, affects T-DNA transfer to Zea mays. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:10426–30.
- [94] Regensburg-Tuink AJ, Hooykaas PJJ. Transgenic N. glauca plants expressing bacterial virulence gene virF are converted into hosts for nopaline strains of A. tumefaciens. Nature 1993;363:69–71.
- [95] Alfano JR, Collmer A. Type III secretion system effector proteins: double agents in bacterial disease and plant defense. Annu Rev Phytopathol 2004;42:385–414.
- [96] Abramovitch RB, Kim YJ, Chen S, Dickman MB, Martin GB. Pseudomonas type III effector AvrPtoB induces plant disease susceptibility by inhibition of host programmed cell death. EMBO J 2003;22:60–9.
- [97] Hauck P, Thilmony R, He SY. A Pseudomonas syringae type III effector suppresses cell wall-based extracellular defense in susceptible Arabidopsis plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:8577–82.
- [98] Badel JL, Nomura K, Bandyopadhyay S, Shimizu R, Collmer A, He SY. Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000 HopPtoM (CEL ORF3) is important for lesion formation but not growth in tomato and is secreted and translocated by the Hrp type III secretion system in a chaperone-dependent manner. Mol Microbiol 2003;49:1239–51.
- [99] Nomura K, Debroy S, Lee YH, Pumplin N, Jones J, He SY. A bacterial virulence protein suppresses host innate immunity to cause plant disease. Science 2006;313:220–3.
- [100] Bestwick CS, Bennett MH, Mansfield JW. Hrp mutant of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv *phaseolicola* induces cell wall alterations but not membrane damage leading to the hypersensitive reaction in lettuce. Plant Physiol 1995;108:503–16.
- [101] Collins NC, Thordal-Christensen H, Lipka V, Bau S, Kombrink E, Qiu JL, et al. SNARE-protein-mediated disease resistance at the plant cell wall. Nature 2003;425:973–7.
- [102] Wiertz EJ, Jones TR, Sun L, Bogyo M, Geuze HJ, Ploegh HL. The human cytomegalovirus US11 gene product dislocates MHC class I heavy chains from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cytosol. Cell 1996;84:769–79.
- [103] Scheffner M, Huibregtse JM, Vierstra RD, Howley PM. The HPV-16 E6 and E6-AP complex functions as a ubiquitin-protein ligase in the ubiquitination of p53. Cell 1993;75:495–505.